Exh. SWM-2 Docket UG-240008 Witness: Scott W. Madison

BEFORE THE WASHINGTON UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION,

Complainant,

v.

CASCADE NATURAL GAS CORPORATION,

Respondent.

DOCKET UG-240008

CASCADE NATURAL GAS CORPORATION

FIRST EXHIBIT TO THE DIRECT TESTIMONY OF SCOTT W. MADISON

March 29, 2024







NOVEMBER 2023

Designs for Net-Zero Energy Systems: Meta-Analysis of U.S. Economy-Wide Decarbonization Studies

Exh. SWM-2 Page 2 of 36

DESIGNS FOR NET-ZERO ENERGY SYSTEMS: META-ANALYSIS OF U.S. ECONOMY-WIDE DECARBONIZATION STUDIES (Meta NZ)

Authors

0

Ansh Nasta Principal Energy Systems Analyst, GTI Energy Derek Wissmiller Director of Strategic Analytics, GTI Energy

Acknowledgements

Bipartisan Policy Center: Lesley Jantarasami Carnegie Mellon University: Michael Blackhurst, Paulina Jaramillo, Katie Jordan Clean Air Task Force: Conrad Schneider Electric Power Research Institute: John Bistline, Geoffrey Blanford, Aranya Venkatesh Evolved Energy Research: Ben Haley, Ryan Jones North Carolina State University: Jeremiah Johnson, Aditya Sinha Princeton University: Eric Larson Sutubra Research: Cameron Wade Third Way: Lindsey Walter, Florian Schneider

Funding

This work was supported by funding from GTI Energy and the Low Carbon Resources Initiative which was designed by GTI Energy and the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) to address the need to accelerate development and demonstration of low-and-zero-carbon energy technologies.







Executive Summary

This report provides a detailed meta-analysis of U.S. economy-wide net-zero studies, enabling like-for-like comparisons among different studies and scenarios. This study was performed through a process of collaboration among the authors of each of the five studies evaluated. This meta-analysis brings together a diversity of perspectives, analytical frameworks, and datasets to offer a comprehensive look at designs for net-zero energy systems.

Informing the Designs of Net-Zero Systems

Transitioning to net-zero requires an informed view of net-zero energy system designs. What pathways and technologies might be deployed? How might these systems be integrated? What infrastructure is critical to achieve that integration? What investments might be needed? Economy-wide net-zero modeling efforts are helping to answer these questions.

Energy system models offer an analytically informed means for evaluating the potential evolution of energy systems. These models leverage economic optimization to balance energy supply and demand under different scenarios, assumptions, and inputs. Historically, the scope of these models was limited to a particular sector (e.g., the power sector) and/or focused on less stringent emissions targets (e.g., 50% reduction). It has only been within recent years that modeling teams have taken on the complex task of evaluating the full U.S. economy under net-zero conditions. By looking across sectors, value chains, and energy carriers, these modeling efforts provide some of the most in-depth assessments available for informing the design of net-zero energy systems.

This report presents a comparison of five publicly accessible comprehensive U.S. economy-wide net-zero studies.^{1,2} This meta-analysis is built upon a collaborative effort among the team members from each of these studies aimed at ensuring accurate interpretation of model information and results. The harmonized set of results presented in this report offers fresh insight into the design of net-zero systems—the common approaches, the range of possibilities, and the areas of differentiation.

Study Team **Date Published Scenarios Evaluated** Net-Zero 2050: U.S. Economy-Wide Deep Low-Carbon September 2022 3 net-zero Decarbonization Scenario Analysis (report) **Resources Initiative** 1 business as usual (LCRI) 0 other Open Energy Outlook An Open Energy Outlook: Decarbonization Pathways September 2022 1 net-zero for the USA (report) (OEO) 1 business as usual 2 other Annual Decarbonization Perspective: Carbon-Neutral **Evolved Energy** August 2022 7 net-zero Pathways for the United States 2022 (report) Research (EER) 1 business as usual 0 other Net-Zero America: Potential Pathways, Infrastructure, Princeton University October 2021 5 net-zero 1 business as usual and Impacts (report) 0 other Pathways to Net-Zero Emissions (report) **Decarb** America February 2021 7 net-zero 1 business as usual 1 other

Table ES-1: Studies Evaluated in this Meta-Analysis

Commonalities Across U.S. Economy-Wide, Net-Zero Studies

Renewables grow the supply of low-carbon energy. Wind and solar deployments increase considerably from today's levels (Figure ES-1), contributing a large share of electricity generation. Bioenergy resources, such as cellulosic biomass, grow substantially to serve a range of markets, including low-carbon fuels production. Altogether, these studies project that renewables could supply the majority of energy in a net-zero U.S. economy.

Electricity expands across sectors. Today, 18% of energy supplied to end-use customers is in the form of electricity —the remainder is in the form of a gaseous, liquid, or solid fuel. This share grows to between 36 and 59% of all final energy under these net-zero scenarios (Figure ES-2). Electricity generation is dominated by wind and solar across most scenarios, with other forms of generation deployed to balance the inherent variability of these resources. Energy storage technologies, predominantly batteries,

are deployed to balance short-duration variability (hourly, intraday). Fuel-based generation, chiefly from pipeline gas, is leveraged to balance long-duration (multiday, seasonal) renewables and demand variations, with total installed capacity comparable to today in most net-zero scenarios.

Fuels diversify and serve multiple markets. Fuels continue to have a sizeable role in these net-zero systems, accounting for between 41 and 64% of final energy (Figure ES-2). In all net-zero scenarios, fuels are used across all end-use sectors—transportation, industry, and buildings. Liquid fuels and pipeline gas are increasingly produced via low-carbon approaches, such as bioenergy and synthetic fuel production, where hydrogen and carbon dioxide are used as feedstocks to produce fuels.^{3,4} Hydrogen grows considerably from today's levels, though is below 10% of final energy in 2050 across most scenarios, with production through a variety of low-carbon pathways including electrolysis, natural gas with carbon capture and sequestration, and bioenergy with carbon capture and sequestration.



Figure ES-1: Share of Total Primary Energy by Source

Renewables grow the supply of low-carbon energy, with nuclear and fossil fuels contributing to the energy mix in most net-zero scenarios. Geothermal and hydro energy, not shown in this figure, account for 2% or less of primary energy consumption across net-zero scenarios.

Figure ES-2: Share of Total Final Energy by Carrier



Final energy, the form of energy used by end-use customers in the buildings, transportation, and industrial sectors, transforms in net-zero scenarios relative to today. The share of final energy supplied by electricity grows in all scenarios. Gaseous and liquid fuels continue to serve across sectors, with growing shares of hydrogen. Coal and biomass, not shown in this figure, provide less than 2% and 4% of final energy across net-zero scenarios, respectively. These final energy results include both energy and non-energy use of fuels.⁵

Efficiency reduces energy consumption while enabling economic growth. All of these studies target net-zero emissions in 2050. These net-zero studies assume continued economic growth over the next three decades, leveraging projections from the U.S. Energy Information Agency for future energy service demands (e.g., vehicle miles driven, square footage of buildings heated and cooled, etc.). Even with growing service demand, final energy consumption is reduced from 81 EJ today to between 40 and 62 EJ in 2050 across net-zero scenarios. Similarly, primary energy consumption is reduced from 100 EJ today to between 52 and 88 EJ in 2050. These reductions are achieved through efficiency improvements across sectors, including increased adoption of electric vehicles and heat pumps which have substantial efficiency gains relative to conventional combustion vehicles and gas-fired furnaces respectively.6

Carbon dioxide removal balances remaining emissions.

The net-zero scenarios evaluated in these studies achieve deep emissions reductions relative to today; yet all scenarios indicate some level of positive emissions remaining from costly-to-abate activities. These positive emissions are balanced by negative emissions approaches where carbon dioxide is removed from the atmosphere and durably stored. This can include technologies such as direct air carbon capture and sequestration, or bioenergy with carbon capture and sequestration. Carbon dioxide removal can also be achieved by incrementally increasing the carbon land sink through changing land use practices and other means. In these net-zero systems, carbon dioxide removal pathways account for total negative emissions flows of between -0.3 and -1.9 GtCO₂/year (Figure ES-3) versus total positive greenhouse gas emissions of 6.3 GtCO_{2e}/ year today.

Figure ES-3: Annual Carbon Dioxide Removal by Approach



Carbon dioxide removal is deployed across net-zero scenarios to offset positive emissions from difficult-to-abate activities. Incremental land sink characterizes the change in the carbon land sink from today's levels (Updated February 2024).⁷

Implications for Transitioning to Net-Zero

There is no single design for net-zero energy systems. Each of these studies points to a wide array of energy carriers, technologies, and regionally specific solutions to meet the energy demands of an expanding U.S. economy. The range of results across these studies highlights a range of perspectives and possibilities for the design of net-zero systems. This range stems partly from intentioned efforts within these studies to evaluate corner point scenarios as a means for highlighting the dynamics and tradeoffs of different net-zero designs. Despite their differences, these studies are consistent in finding that constrained scenarios-where certain technologies or pathways are explicitly excluded or limited-have higher costs than unconstrained scenarios. There is value in considering a range of options to reach net-zero, particularly in these early stages of energy transitions when there is a lot of learning yet to come. At the same time, the insights shared across these studies can inform the decisions made today.

Net-zero systems entail net-zero infrastructure. Largescale investment in energy infrastructure is needed to achieve the unprecedented level of transformation projected across these studies. These models point to expansion of the electric grid to accommodate increasing wind and solar deployments and growing electricity demands. Infrastructure to move and store gaseous molecules at scale is required to employ hydrogen as a versatile low-carbon energy carrier and to enable carbon dioxide removal and sequestration. The existing liquid hydrocarbons and pipeline gas infrastructure will need to be leveraged where it supports the net-zero system designs envisioned in these studies.

Innovation is a foundation for transformation. The netzero designs envisioned in these studies all rely on largescale deployment of new technologies. This includes investing in innovations already proven out at scale, such as wind, solar, and battery technologies. It also includes investing in a broad portfolio of nascent solutions, such as hydrogen, bioenergy, carbon capture, and sequestration. The net-zero systems projected in these studies are based on the information available today. The understanding of these systems is certain to evolve as progress is made towards net-zero. Innovation in a variety of forms technologies, operating models, market frameworks, and beyond—will be central to enabling the transition to net-zero economies.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
Informing the Designs of Net-Zero Systems	1
Commonalities Across U.S. Economy-Wide Net-Zero Studies	2
Implications for Transitioning to Net-Zero	4
U.S. Economy-Wide, Net-Zero Analyses	6
Economy-Wide Models	6
Studies Considered	9
Studies Evaluated	9
Comparison of Net-Zero Results	11
Total Energy Consumption	11
End-Use Sectors	13
Transportation	13
Industry	14
Buildings	15
Energy Carriers	17
Electricity	17
Hydrogen	20
Pipeline Gas	21
Liquid Fuels	23
Greenhouse Gas Emissions	24
Costs	26
Designs for a Net-Zero U.S. Economy	27



U.S. Economy-Wide, Net-Zero Analyses

More than 90 countries have committed to reaching netzero by the end of this century,⁸ with the United States targeting economy-wide net-zero emissions by 2050. The list of countries with net-zero pledges expands every year. **Delivering on these net-zero commitments requires an informed view of the design of net-zero systems**—the technologies, the infrastructure, and the associated investments to deploy, integrate, and operate these systems.

A growing number of researchers, modelers, and analysts are working to inform the design of energy systems capable of achieving economy-wide, net-zero emissions by mid-century. These emerging efforts consider a range of sectors, value chains, and energy carriers, offering detailed assessments and insights on least-cost pathways to reach net-zero. An increasing number of U.S. economy-wide, net-zero studies have been performed in recent years. To draw upon the collective wisdom of these analyses, a framework for comparing and contextualizing studies relative to one another is needed.

This study provides a comprehensive assessment of U.S. economy-wide analyses performed to date, enabling like-for-like comparisons of results, scenarios, and approaches. This meta-analysis—study of studies—has been performed through a collaborative effort among team members from each of the studies evaluated to ensure accurate interpretation of model information and results. The harmonized set of results presented in this report offers fresh insight into the design of net-zero systems—the common approaches, the range of possibilities, and the areas of differentiation.

Economy-Wide Models

The economy-wide energy systems models evaluated here encompass a comprehensive set of sectors, technologies, and energy carriers, applying economic optimization to solve for pathways to **source, make, move, store,** and **use** energy. When exploring net-zero scenarios, these models solve for systems that achieve economy-wide carbon neutrality under assumptions about technologies, markets, and policies. While the results from these models point to deep reductions in greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, the economy-wide framing of these analyses is such that negative emissions activities can be deployed in one part of the economy to balance remaining positive emissions elsewhere in the economy. These models apply economic optimization to balance energy supply and demand under different scenarios and assumptions. Demand projections are typically defined in terms of energy services: for example, the vehicle miles driven for a given vehicle class, or the square footage of buildings heated and cooled in a given climate zone. These service demands can be met in a variety of ways. For example, internal combustion vehicles, battery electric vehicles, or hydrogen fuel cell vehicles could all be used to satisfy vehicle service demands. Determining which demand-side options will help realize the net-zero target requires additional supply-side information. Namely, the associated cost and emissions of supplying liquid fuels, electricity, and hydrogen to these vehicles. There are multiple ways to produce and deliver these energy carriers, each with their own cost, performance, and emissions profiles. The economy-wide models evaluated in this study incorporate this information to solve for least-cost pathways to supply energy across the economy.

The scope of technologies included in these models is extensive (Figure 1). A comprehensive set of primary energy resources is considered-renewable, fossil, nuclear-all of which can be leveraged to generate electricity. Hydrogen can be produced from electricity via electrolysis or through conversion processes that leverage fossil or bioenergy resources. Liquid and gaseous hydrocarbon fuels can be produced through conventional fossil-based routes, or bioenergy and synthetic pathways. These synthetic fuels pathways leverage hydrogen and captured carbon dioxide (CO₂) as feedstocks. Carbon dioxide can be captured from power generation, hydrogen production, biofuels processing, or other industrial facilities, as well as directly from the air via direct air capture (DAC) technologies. While CO₂ can be used as a feedstock, it can also be sequestered to abate emissions from fossil sources or to achieve negative emissions flows when captured from bioenergy sources or the air.9 Negative emissions flows can also be achieved through activities aimed at expanding the land sink to enhance the terrestrial uptake of CO₂. These negative emissions activities can offset positive emissions from activities elsewhere in the economy.

In addition to how energy is **sourced** and **made**, these models characterize the ways in which energy carriers are **moved**, **stored**, and **used**. The existing electric grid and fuels infrastructure are represented. These models also characterize the build-out of new infrastructure to support growing demand, including electricity transmission and distribution infrastructure, and transport and storage



Figure 1: Illustrative Technology Pathways Considered in Economy-Wide, Net-Zero Analyses



A broad set of sectors, technologies, and energy carriers are considered in economy-wide, net-zero analyses. The potential designs of net-zero systems involve a diverse array of energy value chains with a high degree of integration for how to source, make, move, store, and use energy.

networks for hydrogen, ammonia, and captured carbon dioxide. Once energy carriers are delivered to end-use markets, these models consider a range of end-use technology options to meet energy service demands vehicles, appliances, and equipment.

Economy-wide, net-zero models include several lowcarbon technologies that are still at relatively early stages of development and deployment, which carry uncertainty regarding their cost, performance, and emissions. These models apply forward-looking estimates for these early-stage technologies based on the information available today. This information—the costs and performance of these technologies, and the energy sources they leverage—will evolve in progressing towards net-zero. Technological breakthroughs and other disruptions could significantly alter the net-zero energy system designs projected by these models. Nonetheless, these modeling approaches provide some of the most comprehensive and analytically grounded tools available to inform the designs of net-zero systems.

Exh. SWM-2 Page 10 of 36

Table 1: Studies Considered in this Meta-Analysis

			iary Energy	l Energy	sportation	stry	dings	tricity Capacity	tricity Generation	rogen Production	line Gas Supply	id Fuel Supply	i Emissions
Study	Team	Date Published	Prim	Fina	Tran	Indu	Build	Elec	Elec	Hydi	Pipe	Liqu	GHG
New Energy Outlook U.S. (<u>report</u>)	Bloomberg New Energy Finance	August 2023											
BP Energy Outlook 2023 ¹⁰ (report)	BP	July 2023											
Net-zero CO_2 by 2050 scenarios for the United States in the Energy Modeling Forum 37 study (report)	Energy Modeling Forum (EMF) ¹¹	April 2023											
Shell Scenarios Sketch: A U.S. Net-Zero CO ₂ Energy System by 2050 (report)	Shell	March 2023											
Pathways to Net-Zero for the U.S. Energy Transition (<u>report</u>)	Energy Pathways USA ¹²	November 2022											
LCRI Net-Zero 2050: U.S. Economy-wide Deep Decarbonization Scenario Analysis (report)	Low-Carbon Resources Initiative (LCRI)13	September 2022											
An Open Energy Outlook: Decarbonization Pathways for the USA (<u>report</u>)	Open Energy Outlook (OEO) ¹⁴	September 2022											
Annual Decarbonization Perspective: Carbon-Neutral Pathways for the United States (report)	Evolved Energy Research (EER)	August 2022											
Navigating America's net-zero frontier: A guide for business leaders (<u>report</u>)	McKinsey Sustainability	May 2022											
The Long-Term Strategy of The United States: Pathways to Net-Zero Greenhouse Gas Emissions by 2050 (report)	U.S. Executive Office of the President	November 2021											
Net-Zero America: Potential Pathways, Infrastructure, and Impacts (<u>report</u>)	Princeton University	October 2021											
Pathways to Net-Zero Emissions (report)	Decarb America (DA) ¹⁵	February 2021											
-		-											

Data publicly available

Data partially publicly available Data not publicly available

Studies Considered

Several U.S. decarbonization studies have been considered in this meta-analysis, as summarized in Table 1 below. The studies considered here align with the following criteria: (1) the study is focused on the U.S. economy; (2) at least one scenario in the study is targeted at achieving economy-wide, net-zero emissions; and (3) the results of the study are freely and publicly available.¹⁶ To the authors' knowledge, Table 1 contains all such studies published to date.^{17,18,19}

The scope of results reported varies across these studies. At present, this meta-analysis focuses on the five studies with the most comprehensive set of publicly available results. Future efforts, extending beyond the publication of this study, will seek to perform a detailed evaluation of a broader subset of the studies listed in Table 1.

Two studies listed in Table 1 are comparative in nature. The Energy Pathways USA study compared the results of two 2050 analyses—U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA)'s Annual Energy Outlook (AEO) and the Princeton study—similar to this meta-analysis. The EMF 37 study investigated how different energy systems modeling platforms perform when given the same objective and guidelines for evaluating U.S. economywide deep decarbonization, providing granular insights into the impact of analytical methodology on model results. The meta-analysis presented here offers a broad comparison across five U.S. economy-wide, net-zero studies, encompassing different modeling approaches, input assumptions, and scenario definitions.

Studies Evaluated

Five of the 12 considered studies were evaluated in detail in this meta-analysis (Table 2). All five studies set a target of achieving U.S. economy-wide, net-zero emissions by 2050. These studies assumed continued economic growth over the next three decades, with increasing energy service demands. Projections of these energy service demands—such as the number of miles driven by given vehicle class, or the square footage of buildings heated and cooled in a given region—were based on estimates from the EIA's AEO for all five studies.

Study	Team	Net-Zero Target	Model	Service Demands	Demand Decisions	Supply Decisions	Scenarios
Net-Zero 2050: U.S. Economy-Wide Deep Decarbonization Scenario Analysis (<u>report</u>)	Low-Carbon Resources Initiative (LCRI)	net-zero CO ₂ by 2050	US-REGEN	AEO 2020	model output	model output	3 net-zero 1 BAU 0 other
An Open Energy Outlook: Decarbonization Pathways for the USA (<u>report</u>)	Open Energy Outlook (OEO)	net-zero CO_2 by 2050	TEMOA	AEO 2022	model output	model output	1 net-zero 1 BAU 2 other
Annual Decarbonization Perspective 2022 (<u>report</u>)	Evolved Energy Research (EER)	net-zero GHGs by 2050	Energy PATHWAYS	AEO 2022	user input	model output	7 net-zero 1 BAU 0 other
Net-Zero America: Potential Pathways, Infrastructure, and Impacts (<u>report</u>)	Princeton University	net-zero GHGs by 2050	Energy PATHWAYS	AEO 2019	user input	model output	5 net-zero 1 BAU 0 other
Pathways to Net-Zero Emissions (<u>report</u>)	Decarb America (DA)	net-zero GHGs by 2050	Energy PATHWAYS	AEO 2019	user input	model output	7 net-zero 1 BAU 1 other

Table 2: Studies Evaluated in this Meta-Analysis



There are key differences across these studies, such as the way the net-zero target is defined. The LCRI and OEO studies targeted net-zero CO_2 emissions, whereas the EER, Princeton, and DA studies targeted net-zero emissions of several GHG emissions, including activities not directly associated with energy (e.g., agricultural livestock production).²⁰ This difference in definition has a meaningful impact on the total emissions burden to be abated.

All studies analyzed a multitude of technology options and pathways across sectors, solving for energy systems designs that achieve economy-wide net-zero emissions. All studies applied cost-optimization as part of the analytical framework, although the methodology applied varied across different studies.

The EER, Princeton, and DA studies used Evolved Energy Research's EnergyPATHWAYS model, and Evolved Energy Research participated in all three studies. In the EnergyPATHWAYS model, the demand-side technology mix is defined as based upon user-defined values. For example, the share of light-duty vehicle types—gasoline internal combustion vehicle, battery electric vehicle, hydrogen fuel cell vehicle, etc.—is defined by the user. The supply-side technology mix is optimized within the EnergyPATHWAYS model to achieve the lowest possible cost while satisfying the economy-wide emissions target. That is, the mix of technologies for making, moving, and storing electricity, hydrogen, and other fuels is optimized to provide the least cost set of supply-side technologies to meet energy demands, while satisfying the net-zero target. The LCRI and OEO studies also optimize the supply-side technology mix. Additionally, these studies incorporate the demand-side technology mix and associated costs into the analytical framework. In these models the technology decisions at the point of end-use—for example, whether to heat a building with an electric heat pump, a gas-fired unit, or a hybrid electric-gas system—are solved as a model output, rather than being defined as a user input.

A wide range of scenarios were evaluated across these five studies.²¹ These scenarios evaluate the trajectory of energy systems under different sets of assumptions and constraints, characterizing the impacts of various parameters on possible future outcomes. This range stems partly from intentioned efforts within these studies to evaluate corner point scenarios as a means for highlighting the dynamics and tradeoffs of different net-zero designs. Each study included a business-as-usual (BAU) scenario to evaluate the possible trajectory of the U.S. energy system under current policies. None of the studies evaluated incorporated the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) incentives because the modeling activities were completed before the legislation passed.²² Some studies, such as OEO and DA, included 'other' scenarios, which introduced emissions targets, but not net-zero targets. While these 'other' scenarios offer useful insights, they are not incorporated into the results of this meta-analysis. Rather, this meta-analysis primarily focuses on the results of net-zero scenarios.



Comparison of Net-Zero Results

The economy-wide, net-zero studies evaluated here differed in their reporting of results, making it difficult to make direct comparisons across studies. In this meta-analysis, the results of these different studies have been harmonized through a process of collaboration with the teams from each of the five studies to ensure accurate interpretation and representation. The results have been aligned to a consistent reporting basis across the following metrics: total energy consumption, end-use sectors, energy carriers, greenhouse gas emissions, and cost.

This meta-analysis seeks to identify insights when comparing across economy-wide, net-zero conditions. Thus, this report highlights the results of net-zero scenarios, specifically the 2050 end point of these scenarios—the designs of U.S. economy-wide, net-zero energy systems. The results presented here enable like-for-like comparisons of these net-zero designs, both across different studies and scenarios, and relative to today's energy systems.²³

Total Energy Consumption

The net-zero studies evaluated here all assume continued economic growth from now until reaching net-zero in 2050, leveraging information from the EIA to project future energy service demands (e.g., vehicle miles driven of a given vehicle class, building square footage heated and cooled, etc.). Even with growing service demand, final energy consumption is reduced from 81 EJ today to between 40 and 62 EJ in 2050 across net-zero scenarios.^{24,25} Similarly, primary energy consumption is reduced from 100 EJ today to between 52 and 88 EJ in 2050 (Figure 2). These reductions are achieved through efficiency improvements across sectors. The reported reduction in primary energy consumption is also an artifact of the reporting convention employed here for wind and solar technologies, where the produced energy is directly reported (e.g., the electricity generated from a solar panel) rather than the available energy (e.g., the sunlight energy impinging on a solar panel).

Many net-zero scenarios suggest that renewables could supply the majority of energy in a net-zero U.S. economy. Wind and solar deployments increase considerably from today's levels, contributing to large shares of electricity generation. Wind contributes more primary energy than solar in most scenarios. Energy from biomass and waste increases from 5% today to 10–28% in 2050. Bioenergy resources, such as cellulosic biomass, grow substantially to serve a range of markets, especially low-carbon fuels



Total Energy Consumption

primary and final energy



End-Use Sectors

transportation, industry, and buildings



Energy Carriers

electricity, hydrogen, pipeline gas, and liquid fuels



Greenhouse Gas Emissions

positive and negative emissions



Cost

total cost of deploying and operating future energy systems

production. Hydro energy is similar to today across scenarios. Geothermal energy is nearly zero in all but two scenarios.

Fossil energy resources continue to play a role across these net-zero systems. Coal is largely eliminated, other than for uses in heavy industrial applications like steel and cement. Consumption of petroleum and natural gas decreases but is non-zero unless it is explicitly excluded under the constraints of a given scenario. Petroleum contributes 7–23% of primary energy and natural gas contributes 7–39% in net-zero scenarios where fossil fuels and carbon sequestration are allowed within the scenario definition. Carbon capture and sequestration (CCS) is deployed to abate fossil emissions across many scenarios. Unabated use of fossil fuels is also present



Primary energy consumption decreases relative to today in all net-zero scenarios as a result of efficiency improvements across energy value chains. Renewable energy deployment grows considerably. Fossil fuel consumption decreases but remains, except for scenarios that explicitly prohibit their use.

across all scenarios where fossil fuels are allowed, with associated emissions offset by carbon dioxide removal (CDR) approaches to achieve the economy-wide, net-zero target. Fossil resources also continue to be leveraged for non-energy purposes as feedstock for production of chemicals and materials.

Nuclear energy is used for power generation in all scenarios unless it is explicitly excluded under the constraints of a given scenario.²⁶ Some net-zero scenarios point to declines in nuclear energy relative to today, whereas other scenarios point to increases in nuclear energy through growing deployment of small modular reactors.

Final energy also decreases in all scenarios relative to today due to efficiency improvements across end-use

sectors. Electricity use expands, with increasing shares in transportation, buildings, and industry. Electric vehicles and heat pumps particularly arise as cost-competitive technologies with substantial efficiency gains, driving increases in electricity consumption and decreases in overall final energy consumption. Today, 18% of energy supplied to end-use customers is in the form of electricity. This share grows to between 36 and 59% of all final energy under these net-zero scenarios, serving an even larger share of energy service demands as a result of the relatively higher efficiencies achieved for electricity-based equipment.

Solid, liquid, and gaseous fuels continue to be supplied to end-use markets in these net-zero systems, accounting

Final energy supplied to end-use consumers decreases in all net-zero scenarios relative to today as a result of efficiency improvements in vehicles, appliances, and other equipment. Electricity expands across sectors, with total consumption growing considerably from today's levels. Energy delivered to consumers as a fuel decreases but still makes up roughly half of final energy consumed in most net-zero scenarios.

for between 41 and 64% of final energy. Fuels are used across all end-use sectors—transportation, industry, and buildings—in all net-zero scenarios. Liquid fuels and pipeline gas are increasingly produced via low-carbon approaches such as bioenergy and synthetic fuel production, where hydrogen and carbon dioxide are used as feedstocks to produce fuels.^{27,28} Hydrogen grows considerably from zero today to 2–19% of final energy in 2050, with production through a variety of low-carbon pathways including electrolysis, natural gas with carbon capture and sequestration (CCS).²⁹ Liquid fuels, particularly petroleum-derived liquids, are also leveraged as feedstocks for non-energy uses and included in the results reported in Figure $3.^{30}$

End-Use Sectors

Energy systems are built to serve the myriad of end-use customer needs across the economy. In the transition to net-zero energy systems, energy **use** will also evolve to meet the needs of the evolving U.S. economy. Across the net-zero energy system designs envisioned in these studies, increasing shares of electric and hydrogen-fueled vehicles, appliances, and equipment are adopted, while hydrocarbon fuels continue to serve end-use markets.

Transportation

In the transportation sector (Figure 4), electric vehicle adoption increases considerably relative to today in all net-zero scenarios, especially in the light-duty, on-road market. Given the efficiency gains of electric vehicles

Increased deployment of efficient electric vehicles drives rising electricity consumption and falling energy consumption relative to today. Hydrogen vehicles are adopted across all net-zero scenarios, while liquid fuels continue to serve long-haul and heavy-duty sectors.

as compared to conventional fuels-based vehicles, this increased adoption drives steep declines in total energy consumption in the transportation sector, even as the total number of vehicle miles traveled per year rises from now to 2050. Note that these efficiencies for transport electrification mean that electricity's share of service demand exceeds its share of final energy. Fuels—which are capable of storing large quantities of energy per unit weight and volume—continue to serve, especially in sectors with more stringent on-board storage requirements. Liquid fuels remain a large share of the energy supply, particularly for aviation, maritime, and heavy-duty sectors. Hydrogen is also adopted in the transport sector, with a range of potential deployments across studies and scenarios. Hydrogen vehicle deployment is lower in the LCRI and OEO studies, as compared to the EER, Princeton, and DA studies. In the LCRI and OEO studies the demandside decisions regarding which vehicle type to deploy were incorporated as part of the overall cost optimization, whereas the vehicle types were provided as user-defined inputs in the other studies. Ammonia is adopted as a fuel for the maritime sector in the LCRI, EER, and DA studies. Pipeline gas continues to serve a small share of the transportation sector in some net-zero scenarios, primarily for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles.

Industry

Industrial energy consumption falls across net-zero scenarios (Figure 5), driven by efficiency improvements. For example, the LCRI Limited Options scenario—where

Electricity and hydrogen expand across industry relative to today. Fuels comprise a large share of industrial energy consumption under net-zero conditions, with liquid fuels continuing to serve as feedstocks for non-energy uses.

there were constraints on the technology options available—adopted higher efficiency technologies as part of the least-cost solution, driving down overall energy consumption in the industrial sector. EER's Low Demand scenario and DA's High Conservation scenario assumed lower energy service demand in general, which also led to lower industrial energy consumption.

Electricity grows considerably relative to today, comprising more than a third of energy consumption in most netzero scenarios. Fuels continue to have a significant role, accounting for more than half of industrial energy consumption in all net-zero scenarios. Hydrogen grows from today's levels where it continues to serve as a non-energy feedstock for chemicals production, as well as a fuel for process heating.²⁹ Pipeline gas usage declines but remains non-zero in all scenarios. Liquid fuel consumption remains similar to today's levels, in part, because these fuels continue to serve as feedstocks for non-energy uses.³⁰ Coal declines across most scenarios but continues to serve the steel and cement industry with carbon capture and sequestration deployed in some scenarios.

Buildings

In the buildings sector (Figure 6), as with the transportation and industrial end-use sectors, electricity expands to provide a large share of energy consumption. A range of electric appliances and equipment are adopted, with substantial deployment of electric heat pumps for space

Figure 6: Annual Building Energy Consumption by Energy Carrier (EJ)

Electric appliance adoption expands throughout the buildings sector as compared to today. Pipeline gas and liquid fuels decline but continue to supply energy to buildings in all net-zero scenarios.

heating. The high efficiencies of these technologies lead to reductions in the total energy consumed in the buildings sector, even as the total square footage of buildings is projected to increase from today to 2050. The LCRI and EER studies allowed the option to deploy electric heat pumps as part of a hybrid approach in which a fuelfired heating unit is coupled with the electric heat pump, particularly in cooler climate zones. This hybrid approach avoids the need to size the electric heat pump to satisfy peak heating demands on the coldest degree days, offering a cost-competitive approach for reducing emissions.³¹ Whether as part of a hybrid electric-gas heating system or a standalone gas-fired unit, pipeline gas continues to serve the buildings sector across all net-zero scenarios, particularly for cooler climate regions with peak winter space heating demands.

Liquid fuels, including propane, decrease drastically across scenarios but are never eliminated. They—along with biomass resources like firewood—continue to be used for cooking and heating in places where it may be costly to build or upgrade distribution infrastructure, such as in rural communities.

Energy Carriers

While energy systems are built to serve customer needs, much of the energy infrastructure is built to **make**, **move**, and **store** the energy carriers supplied to end-use markets. Today, electricity is made in a variety of ways, whereas the liquid and gaseous fuels leveraged are primarily linked to petroleum and natural gas, respectively. These economy-wide net-zero studies open the aperture, considering a diverse set of pathways for producing low-carbon liquid and gaseous fuels relative to other potential decarbonization options. The cost-optimized net-zero energy system designs in these studies point towards increased production of low-carbon electricity coupled with a mix of fuels that is increasingly produced through low-carbon pathways.

Electricity

Electricity generation capacity significantly increases relative to today in all net-zero scenarios to meet the demands of increased electrification across sectors (Figure 7). Wind and solar power dominate new capacity in all scenarios, increasing four to 26 times that of today's level. New solar deployments outpace wind in all but two scenarios. Hydropower capacity remains largely unchanged relative to today's levels across all scenarios. Geothermal installations remain at their current levels, increasing only in OEO's Net Zero scenario and Princeton's E+RE- and E+RE+ scenarios.

Electric storage technologies, including batteries, pumped hydro, compressed air energy storage, and other storage systems are available as deployable options across these net-zero studies. Batteries dominate the share of new storage capacity across all scenarios, while other storage technologies have relatively little to no new deployment. The substantial increase in battery capacity complements the substantial increase in wind and solar capacity, serving to balance the short-duration (hourly, intraday) variability of these resources.

Fuels-based generation—fossil, nuclear, biomass, and hydrogen—provides firm capacity to balance long-duration (multiday, seasonal) renewables and demand variations. Total fuels-based power capacity varies across net-zero scenarios, ranging from 40% to 117% of today's fuels-based generation capacity. Coal power capacity is largely retired across net-zero scenarios. Limited levels of biomass power capacity are deployed in some scenarios, and in some cases with carbon capture.

Gas-fired capacity ranges from roughly 200 to 800 GW across net-zero scenarios, spanning a wide range as compared to the 500 GW installed today. The majority of gas-fired capacity in net-zero scenarios is deployed as peaking

Exh. SWM-2 Page 19 of 36

plants without carbon capture, providing firm, flexible operation to meet peak load demands. It is noteworthy that gas-fired generation without carbon capture is leveraged even in net-zero scenarios that exclude fossil fuels. A low-carbon pipeline gas fuel blend is used for gas-fired power plants in EER's 100% Renewables scenario, Princeton's E+RE+ scenario, and DA's No Fossil scenario.

Gas-fired power generation units with carbon capture are deployed in several scenarios. These units operate at higher capacity factors as compared to gas-fired units without carbon capture, offering firm, low-carbon power capacity. Correspondingly, higher deployment levels of carbon-capture enabled gas-fired generation tends to occur in scenarios with lower deployment levels of wind and solar generation. The relative competitiveness of carbon-capture enabled gas-fired generation depends on a multitude of factors, including the costs of the power plant and CO_2 transport and sequestration, as well as the ability of these systems to flexibly operate in response to fluctuations in renewables availability and load demand.

Nuclear power capacity is present in all net-zero scenarios except those that explicitly exclude it (EER's 100% Renewables scenario and Princeton's E+RE+ scenario). In scenarios that allow nuclear, a sizeable share of the existing capacity is maintained through 2050. New nuclear capacity buildout tends to leverage advanced technologies like small modular reactors. The highest level of nuclear deployment occurs in scenarios where other options are constrained.

Hydrogen-fired power capacity is only deployed in the LCRI study, predominately in the Limited Options scenario.³² These units leverage hydrogen as a form of long-duration energy storage (multiday, seasonal), dispatching to meet peak demands when other generation is insufficient: for example, when wind and solar availability is limited.

Electricity production increases significantly in these net-zero systems, with total generation of between twoand three-times today's levels across most scenarios (Figure 8). This generation serves the increased electricity demands across end-use sectors, as well as electrolysis-based hydrogen production, and the synthetic fuels derived from that hydrogen.

Wind and solar contribute the majority of power generation in nearly all net-zero scenarios, providing more than two-thirds of total generation in most scenarios. In net-zero scenarios where fossil fuels and nuclear are allowed, wind and solar account for as much as 90% of all primary generation. This share increases to as high as 98% in scenarios where fossil and nuclear resources are excluded. When generation from these units exceeds

Figure 7: Electricity Generation Capacity by Source (GW)

Electricity generation capacity grows multifold relative to today and is dominated by wind and solar across most net-zero scenarios, with storage and fuels-based capacity deployed to balance the variability of these renewable resources.

end-use electricity demands, this excess energy is either stored for dispatch at a later time, leveraged to produce hydrogen via electrolysis, curtailed or used to support direct air capture in some scenarios.

Nuclear energy provides the largest share of electricity after wind and solar in most scenarios (Figure 8). Nuclear-based generation contributes between 5 and 20% of total generation in all scenarios where nuclear is allowed. The Princeton E+RE-scenario is an exception, where nuclear contributes 30% of total generation. While the total installed capacity is relatively small (Figure 7), these units operate as baseload generation, providing a meaningful contribution to total electricity production. Gas-fired generation contributes only a small amount of electricity across most net-zero scenarios, despite the relatively large capacity deployed (Figure 7). Natural gasfired generation without carbon capture accounts for less than 3% of generation across all scenarios. These generators operate as peaking plants, with fleet-average capacity factors of roughly 2–5% for most scenarios.³³ Although used infrequently, the firm, flexible capacity offered by these units serves to provide high rates of power production to address peak events when renewables availability is low (e.g., low wind speeds due to atypical weather conditions) and/or demand is high (e.g., peak building cooling loads associated with a heat wave). In scenarios where

Figure 8: Annual Electricity Generation by Source (EJ)

The substantial wind and solar capacity deployed in these net-zero systems is leveraged to provide the vast majority of power generation in most net-zero scenarios.³⁴ The variability of these resources is balanced by low-carbon dispatchable generation—batteries, hydro, and carbon-captured enabled gas generation—and gas-fired peaking plants. Nuclear, and to a lesser extent biomass-fueled power, provide baseload generation.

fossil fuels are excluded, these 'natural gas' units are fueled by a mix of low-carbon fuels. Hydrogen-fired generation is also leveraged to meet peak demands in the LCRI Limited Options scenario.

Carbon-captured enabled natural gas generation contributes a small share of power production in several net-zero scenarios, accounting for at least 1% of total generation in seven scenarios (Figure 8). These units operate with fleet-average capacity factors of roughly 30 to 70% across scenarios, offering dispatchable power to balance renewables intermittency and load demands. Carbon-capture enabled gas-fired units tend to generate more electricity in scenarios where wind and solar generation is lower. Hydropower generation is dispatched in all net-zero scenarios, leveraging a fleet of generation units with total installed capacity similar to today. In most scenarios, these units are leveraged at somewhat higher capacity factors in 2050, producing roughly 10–20% more power as compared to today. These units serve as a dispatchable source of power to balance grid demands, with fleet-average capacity factors of 40–45% in most scenarios.

Deployment of biomass-fueled power generation capacity is relatively small across net-zero scenarios (Figure 7). However, these plants tend to operate with high-capacity factors, making them a relevant share of the total generation mix. Biomass-fueled electricity accounts for at least 2% of total generation in six of the net-zero scenarios, spanning all studies except LCRI. Biomass-fuel power generation offers a source of low-carbon power. When coupled with carbon capture and sequestration, biomass-fueled power generation provides a pathway for achieving carbon dioxide removal (see Greenhouse Gas Emissions section). In some scenarios, carbon captured from these facilities provides a source of biogenic CO_2 feedstock for synthetic fuels production.

Geothermal generation is near zero in all scenarios except OEO's Net Zero scenario and Princeton's E+RE- scenario, which account for 1.5% and 1.8% of total generation, respectively. Geothermal units are leveraged as baseload power in those two scenarios.

The way electricity is made and stored in net-zero energy systems is central to delivering a robust supply of low-carbon electricity to end-use sectors: so too is the infrastructure required to **move** that electricity from where it is made and stored, to where it is used. Each of these studies incorporated the cost of expanding the electric grid as part of the overall analytical framework. The electricity generation capacity (Figure 7) offers a proxy for the electric grid infrastructure required in these net-zero scenarios. The grid must be sized to capture the peak output of wind and solar resources, as well as that of batteries and other firm generation. In some scenarios, this can include buildout of long-distance transmission infrastructure to move electricity from regions with high production to regions with high demand. In all net-zero scenarios where electric transmission results were reported, the transmission infrastructure is expanded relative to today. Distribution infrastructure must also be expanded considerably to meet growing demands across end-use sectors. With increased electrification of space heating, peak electric grid loads can grow considerably in cooler regions, with peak demands shifting from the summer cooling season to the winter heating season.

Hydrogen

Hydrogen has been part of the U.S. economy for decades, primarily for non-energy uses as a feedstock in petroleum refining and chemical production. Hydrogen offers great potential as a low-carbon energy carrier in that it offers the intrinsic storability and transportability characteristics of fuels, while emitting no CO₂ emissions at point of end-use. There are multiple pathways for producing low-carbon hydrogen, including electrolysis coupled with low-carbon electricity, natural gas conversion coupled with CCS, and biomass conversion with or without carbon capture. These low-carbon production pathways, as well as the systems and equipment required for moving, storing, and using hydrogen at scale, are still in the early stages of development and deployment. Hydrogen production increases sharply in all net-zero scenarios, growing three to 20 times relative to today (Figure 9). The wide range of production levels across scenarios is driven, in part, by the nascency of the low-carbon hydrogen industry and the associated uncertainty of technology costs and performance assumptions.³⁵ It is noteworthy that the LCRI and OEO studies tend to have lower levels of hydrogen production and consumption, relative to the other three studies.³⁶ This may be attributed in part to the fact that demand side decisions—for example, whether to deploy a battery electric vehicle versus a hydrogen-fueled vehicle—are solved for as part of the overall cost optimization in the LCRI and OEO studies, whereas these decisions are framed as part of the input assumptions in the other studies.

In addition to differences in production levels, there is a range of results across net-zero studies and scenarios regarding the type of hydrogen production deployed. Electrolysis-where electricity is used to produce hydrogen from water-is leveraged across a wide range of production levels, with deployment in all net-zero scenarios except LCRI's All Options scenario. Electrolysis, and hydrogen production overall, becomes especially pronounced in scenarios where fossil resources are constrained such as LCRI's Limited Options scenario,37 EER's 100% Renewables scenario, Princeton's E+RE+ scenario, and DA's no-fossil scenario. Across net-zero scenarios, electrolysis leverages generation from intermittent wind and solar, such that these hydrogen production facilities are considered to operate with a high degree of flexibility to utilize the variable supply of electricity from these resources.

Hydrogen production from biomass and/or waste with carbon capture and sequestration arises across many scenarios, in part, as this provides means for both producing hydrogen and for achieving negative carbon emissions flows. By capturing and sequestering the carbon in the biomass—carbon which was removed from the atmosphere during the biomass growth cycle—atmospheric CDR can be achieved. Additionally, biomass conversion with carbon capture and utilization is adopted in some scenarios, where the captured carbon is utilized as a feedstock to produce drop-in hydrocarbon fuels via synthetic fuel production pathways (hydrogen and carbon dioxide converted to hydrocarbon fuels).

Today, there is a limited level of hydrogen pipeline and underground storage infrastructure, with installations centralized in the U.S. gulf refining region. To leverage hydrogen as an energy carrier at the scale envisioned in these net-zero scenarios, the infrastructure required to **store** and **move** hydrogen must be deployed in parallel with the facilities to **make** hydrogen. These studies evaluated blending hydrogen in natural gas pipelines along with the deployment of dedicated hydrogen

Figure 9: Annual Hydrogen Production by Production Pathway (EJ)

Low-carbon hydrogen grows considerably from today's levels, with a range of projections for production levels and pathways across net-zero studies and scenarios.

pipeline networks and large-scale underground storage, incorporating the costs of these facilities into the overall cost optimization analysis. Additionally, options for trucking hydrogen and above-ground storage tanks were also evaluated. Scenarios that leverage high levels of wind- and solar-based electrolytic hydrogen production tend to deploy higher levels of hydrogen storage to balance the variability of production with demand.

Pipeline Gas

Large quantities of energy are stored and moved within the U.S. natural gas pipeline infrastructure today, supplying both power generation as well as end use customers. As energy systems transition towards net-zero, there is the potential to leverage this infrastructure for use with lowcarbon gas molecules including renewable natural gas (RNG), synthetic natural gas (SNG), and blended hydrogen.

Pipeline gas continues to serve in all net-zero scenarios, but consumption declines to less than a third of today's levels across most scenarios (Figure 10). The steepest declines arise where fossil resources are constrained such as LCRI's Limited Options scenario,³⁷ EER's 100% Renewables scenario, Princeton's E+RE+ scenario, and DA's No Fossil scenario. Gas consumption remains the highest in scenarios where pipeline gas is leveraged with higher levels carbon capture and sequestration, such as

in LCRI's All Options scenario and DA's Con. RE + Slow Adoption scenario.

Fossil natural gas remains the dominant share of pipeline gas supply in all net-zero scenarios except for those in which fossil resources are constrained either directly or indirectly.³⁷ RNG and SNG pathways provide a means for producing gas with a nearly identical composition to fossil natural gas.³⁸ They supply a small share of gas across all net-zero scenarios, with the highest shares present in net-zero scenarios where fossil fuel resources are constrained. Hydrogen is blended into the pipeline gas supply at low levels in the LCRI, Princeton, and DA studies.

The way pipeline gas is **made** in these net-zero systems evolves relative to today, whereas the way it is **moved** and **stored** is similar to today, i.e., by leveraging the existing natural gas infrastructure. These net-zero studies include the transport and storage capacity of pipeline gas infrastructure in the analysis, incorporating the costs to operate and maintain this infrastructure as part of the overall cost optimization. Although pipeline gas consumption

Figure 10: Annual Pipeline Gas Consumption by Production Pathway (EJ)

Pipeline gas consumption decreases relative to today but continues to serve in all net-zero scenarios—particularly for peak electric and winter heating demands—with increasing shares of gas produced through low-carbon pathways.

decreases for net-zero scenarios, peak gas demands can remain relatively high. For example, gas-fired power generation capacity is deployed across all net-zero scenarios (Figure 7), but these generation assets only account for a small level of total generation (Figure 8). In many scenarios, these gas-fired generation units are only used during periods when variable renewable energy resources (e.g., wind and solar) or other generators are insufficient to meet electric demands. Hence, these gas-fired generators are used infrequently, but when called upon, they may operate at high loads, requiring a relatively high rate of pipeline gas delivery. This operating characteristic-infrequent use of pipeline gas infrastructure at relatively high throughput capacity-also arises for hybrid electric-gas heat pump systems that leverage gas-fired heating for peak heating demands during the coldest days and weeks of the year (see Buildings section in End-Use Sectors). These net-zero studies leverage the seasonal storage capacity and gas throughput capacity of gas infrastructure at relatively high levels as compared to the lower levels of pipeline gas consumption.

Liquid Fuels

Liquid hydrocarbon fuels dominate today's energy systems, both as a primary energy source and as a final form of energy to serve end-use markets. These fuels are energetically dense, enabling relatively low-cost storage and transport of these molecules—characteristics which have led to widespread adoption of these fuels in the transportation sector (where vehicle on-board energy storage is required) and large-scale deployment of pipeline and distribution networks to move these energy carriers to market. Low-carbon drop-in fuels capable of substituting petroleum-derived fuels provide a means to leverage these networks as part of an economy-wide netzero energy system.

Liquid fuels serve multiple markets, especially transportation, across all net-zero scenarios, but at much lower levels of consumption relative to today. In terms of the energy uses for liquid fuels, as shown in Figure 11 here,³⁹ consumption levels drop to roughly a quarter of today's levels across most scenarios. Higher levels of liquid fuels consumption tend to occur in scenarios with lower levels of transportation electrification (Figure 4).

Conventional petroleum-based fuels comprise a large share of the liquid fuel mix across net-zero scenarios, albeit with significant decreases relative to today. Advanced biofuel technologies capable of converting a variety of cellulosic biomass materials into drop-in liquid hydrocarbon fuels-especially low-carbon aviation and diesel fuels-expand across net-zero scenarios, substituting petroleum fuels and first-generation biofuels, such as corn-based ethanol.³⁹ Synthetic fuel technologies, which utilize carbon dioxide and hydrogen as feedstocks for low-carbon fuel production, also expand across netzero scenarios. These pathways tend to leverage CO₂ originally absorbed from the atmosphere, including CO₂ from direct air capture and CO₂ captured from biofuels production processes. Deployment of biofuels and synthetic fuels technologies is most prevalent in netzero scenarios where fossil fuels are constrained, either directly within the definition of the scenario, or indirectly as a result of other aspects of the scenario definition.37

Ammonia is produced through low-carbon pathways in all net-zero scenarios to serve non-energy purposes, such as fertilizer and chemical applications. In the LCRI,⁴⁰ EER, and DA studies ammonia is leveraged as a low-carbon fuel to serve end-use energy needs—specifically as a fuel for marine sectors.

Today's liquid fuels are delivered to market through widespread pipeline and distribution networks. Many of the low-carbon liquid fuels **made** in these net-zero systems can leverage the existing infrastructure and networks to **move** and **store** these energy carriers. Drop-in liquid hydrocarbon fuels are energetically dense, making them relatively inexpensive to move and store as compared to other energy carriers. Given this, and the availability of existing infrastructure, the costs of moving and storing liquid hydrocarbon fuels has a relatively low impact on the results of the studies. Where ammonia production grows to accommodate a larger share of final energy as a transportation fuel, the buildout of associated storage and transport infrastructure is included in the overall cost optimization.

Liquid fuels continue to serve energy uses in all net-zero scenarios,⁴¹ but at much lower levels of consumption as compared to today. Drop-in liquid hydrocarbons produced through bioenergy and synthetic fuels pathways increasingly serve as substitutes for petroleum-based fuels. Ammonia arises as a fuel for the maritime sector in some net-zero scenarios.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Getting to net-zero across the U.S. economy entails sharp declines from today's emissions levels. In addition to deeply reducing positive emissions, economy-wide, netzero analyses consistently point to expanding negative emissions approaches, CDR, as a part of the cost-optimal design for achieving net-zero. Across the studies evaluated here, the net-zero target has been framed differently. In the LCRI and OEO studies, the net-zero target encompasses only CO_2 emissions. In the EER, Princeton, and DA studies, several greenhouse gas emissions across the economy are balanced out as part of the net-zero target.²⁰ Therefore, non- CO_2 emissions are only reported for the EER, Princeton, and DA in Figure 12. Total positive emissions levels include unabated CO_2 and non- CO_2 emissions. Fossil-based emissions that are abated through CCS are also shown in Figure 12 below to illustrate the relative scale of these activities. However, these abatements do not contribute to the total positive emissions level. Positive emissions are balanced by negative emissions approaches, where CO_2 is removed from the atmosphere and durably stored. CDR can be achieved through adjustments in agriculture, forestry, and other practices that further expand the natural land sink, i.e., terrestrial absorption of atmospheric CO_2 into the land. The existing U.S. land sink absorbs 0.75 GtCO₂ from the atmosphere each year. This land sink grows in net-zero scenarios relative to today.⁴²

Bioenergy pathways combined with carbon capture and sequestration (BECCS) also provide a means for achieving CDR. As bioenergy feedstocks are leveraged for energy purposes, such as power production or fuels generation, CO_2 is typically emitted. By capturing this CO_2 -which was originally absorbed from the atmosphere during the biomass growth cycle—and durably sequestering it, negative emissions flows can be achieved. These BECCS pathways are leveraged in every study and every net-zero scenario, except for the LCRI Limited Options scenario, where carbon sequestration was explicitly excluded as part of the scenario definition. The level of BECCS deployment varies across studies.

Direct air capture systems, energy-consuming technologies that extract CO_2 directly from the atmosphere, are also leveraged across net-zero scenarios. Coupling direct air capture with carbon sequestration (DACCS) provides another pathway for achieving negative emissions flows.

Figure 12: Annual Greenhouse Gas Emissions (GtCO_{2e})

Although DACCS is a relatively costly approach for abating emissions, it offers a pathway to offset positive emissions from the most difficult-to-abate activities elsewhere in the economy. Given this, DACCS tends to arise as a backstop in these net-zero scenarios. DACCS technologies tend to be deployed later in the time horizon (i.e., closer to 2050) and the costs of these systems tend to ultimately set the marginal cost of CO_2 emissions under net-zero conditions in 2050. Given the multitude of factors that converge around the DACCS deployment decision within these optimization analyses, as well as the uncertainties in the costs and performance of this nascent technology, there is a wide range of estimates for the level of DACCS deployed across these net-zero studies.

To realize the BECCS, DACCS, and CCS-based abatements envisioned in these net-zero systems, infrastructure to **move** and **store** CO_2 at scale must be deployed. These studies include the costs associated with building new

Deep emissions reductions are achieved relative to today across all net-zero scenarios, with remaining positive emissions balanced by carbon dioxide removal (Updated February 2024).

 CO_2 transport networks and sequestration facilities as part of the overall cost-optimization analysis. Additionally, for scenarios that leverage CO_2 utilization, these studies include buildout of the networks for transporting CO_2 from the places where it is captured to the places where it is used, such as synthetic fuels production facilities.

Costs

All evaluated studies solved for least-cost pathways to achieve U.S. economy-wide, net-zero emissions by 2050. While each of the energy system designs envisioned across these studies reach net-zero targets, the total cost associated with transitioning to these systems varies as a function of input assumptions and scenario constraints. These studies differ in their framing and approach to characterizing the total cost of deploying these future energy systems.⁴³ It is thus tenuous to attempt to directly compare costs between different studies. Nonetheless, insights can be attained by comparing relative changes in cost across different scenarios within a single study. To this end, net-zero scenario costs for a given study are shown relative to that study's business as usual (BAU) scenario in Figure 13. For example, the LCRI All Options scenario costs 33% more than the LCRI BAU scenario, and the EER 100% Renewables scenario costs 29% more than the EER BAU scenario. In all studies and scenarios, achieving net-zero by 2050 results in higher cost as compared to continuing under business-as-usual conditions.⁴⁴

The relative costs of reaching net-zero can vary across scenarios for a multitude of reasons. This can include changes in projected resource supply assumptions for a given scenario. For example, LCRI's Higher Fuel Cost and Limited Options scenarios assume lower biomass supply relative to the All Options scenario leading to higher costs, whereas Princeton's E-B+ scenario assumes higher biomass supply relative to other scenarios leading to lower costs. This can also include variations in technology assumptions such as higher CCS costs as in LCRI's Higher Fuel Cost scenario. In general, the highest costs tend to correspond to scenarios which introduce the most constraints. Examples of such constraints are: LCRI's Limited Options scenario does not allow CO₂ to be sequestered, EER's 100% Renewables scenario and Princeton's E+RE+ scenarios only allow renewable energy sources to be used, and EER's Drop-In scenario and Princeton's Escenario constrain the adoption of electric technologies.

Figure 13: Cost of Net-Zero Systems Relative to Business as Usual (%)45

The total cost of deploying and operating these net-zero energy systems increases as compared to proceeding on a businessas-usual trajectory. The relative costs vary depending on the assumptions and constraints of a given netzero scenario. The highest costs tend to correspond to scenarios with the most constraints.

Designs for a Net-Zero U.S. Economy

Transitioning to net-zero requires an informed view

of net-zero energy system designs. In recent years, a growing number of researchers, modelers, and analysts have begun to evaluate energy system designs capable of achieving economy-wide, net-zero emissions by midcentury. The energy system models leveraged in these studies consider a comprehensive set of sectors, value chains, and energy carriers, offering detailed assessments of least-cost pathways to deep decarbonization—the technologies, infrastructure, investments, and integration needed to enable a growing, net-zero U.S. economy.

The designs envisioned in these economy-wide, net-zero studies point to a transformation in the way energy is sourced, made, moved, stored, and used. These net-zero designs are built on the energy systems of today, deploying new technologies and expanding the energy infrastructure with an increasing degree of integration across electricity, fuels, and carbon management value chains. These economy-wide studies point to a common set of features in the design of net-zero energy systems. While these studies were performed prior to passage of the Inflation Reduction Act, the commonalities across these studies are consistent with the incentives in this legislation. These common approaches, now further supported by the IRA, can inform decision-making and planning efforts to drive the transition to a net-zero U.S. economy.

- Renewables grow the supply of low-carbon energy. Wind and solar electricity generation expands dramatically from today's levels, while biomass resources are increasingly leveraged for low-carbon fuels production.
- Electricity expands across sectors. Increasing numbers of electric vehicles, equipment, and appliances are adopted across sectors, with total electricity generation doubling or more than tripling today's levels.
- Fuels diversify and serve multiple markets. Fuels continue to supply roughly half of all energy delivered to end-use customers, with growing shares of hydrogen, and increased deployment of bioenergy and synthetic fuels technologies for producing liquid fuels and pipeline gas.
- Efficiency reduces energy consumption while enabling economic growth. Efficiency gains across energy value chains, particularly for electric vehicles and heat pumps, drive reductions in total energy consumption while satisfying the growing demands of an expanding U.S. economy.
- Carbon dioxide removal balances remaining emissions. Emissions are greatly reduced, with remaining positive emissions balanced by negative emissions approaches, such as growing the land sink, or deploying bioenergy and/ or direct air capture technologies with carbon sequestration.

There is no single design for net-zero energy systems.

Each of these studies points to a wide array of energy carriers, technologies, and regionally specific solutions to meet the energy demands of an expanding U.S. economy. The range of results across these studies highlights a range of perspectives and possibilities for the design of net-zero systems. This range stems partly from intentioned efforts within these studies to evaluate corner point scenarios as a means for highlighting the dynamics and tradeoffs of different net-zero designs. Despite their differences, these studies are consistent in finding that constrained scenarios-where certain technologies or pathways are explicitly excluded or limited-have higher costs than unconstrained scenarios. There is value in considering a range of options to reach net-zero, particularly in these early stages of energy transitions when there is a lot of learning yet to come. At the same time, the insights shared across these studies can inform the decisions made today.

Net-zero systems entail net-zero infrastructure. Largescale investment in energy infrastructure is needed to achieve the unprecedented level of transformation projected across these studies. These models point to expansion of the electric grid to accommodate increasing wind and solar deployments and growing electricity demands. Infrastructure to move and store gaseous molecules at scale is required to employ hydrogen as a versatile low-carbon energy carrier and to enable carbon dioxide removal and sequestration. The existing liquid hydrocarbons and pipeline gas infrastructure will need to be leveraged where it supports the net-zero system designs envisioned in these studies.

Innovation is a foundation for transformation. The netzero designs envisioned in these studies all rely on largescale deployment of new technologies. This includes investing in innovations already proven out at scale, such as wind, solar, and battery technologies. It also includes investing in a broad portfolio of nascent solutions, such as hydrogen, bioenergy, carbon capture, and sequestration. The net-zero systems projected in these studies are based on the information available today. The understanding of these systems is certain to evolve as progress is made towards net-zero. Innovation in a variety of forms technologies, operating models, market frameworks, and beyond—will be central to enabling the transition to net-zero economies.

Exh. SWM-2 Page 30 of 36

Acronyms

- AEO Annual Energy Outlook
- BAU Business As Usual
- BECCS Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Sequestration
- CC Carbon Capture
- CCS Carbon Capture and Sequestration
- CDR Carbon Dioxide Removal
- CO₂ Carbon Dioxide
- DA Decarb America
- DAC Direct Air Capture
- DACCS Direct Air Capture with Carbon Sequestration
- EER Evolved Energy Research
- EIA Energy Information Administration
- EPRI Electric Power Research Institute
- GHG Greenhouse Gas
- IRA Inflation Reduction Act
- LCRI Low-Carbon Resources Initiative
- OEO Open Energy Outlook
- RNG Renewable Natural Gas
- SNG Synthetic Natural Gas

Units

EJ	exajoule
GW	gigawatt
Gt	gigatonne (billion metric tons)
Mt	megatonne (million metric tons)
TBtu	trillion British thermal units
TWh	terawatt-hour

References

International Energy Agency (IEA), Net Zero Roadmap: A Global Pathway to Keep the 1.5°C Goal in Reach, September 2023, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zero-roadmap-a-global-pathway-to-keep-the-15-0c-goal-in-reach</u>

Bloomberg New Energy Finance, New Energy Outlook US, August 2023, https://about.bnef.com/new-energy-outlook-series/

BP, BP Energy Outlook 2023, July 2023, https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/energy-outlook/bp-energy-outlook-2023.pdf

United States Energy Information Administration (EIA), *Monthly Energy Review*, July 2023, <u>https://www.eia.gov/totalenergy/data/</u> monthly/archive/00352307.pdf

Bistline et al., *Emissions and energy impacts of the Inflation Reduction Act, Science, June 2023*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adg3781</u>

Climate Watch, Net-Zero Tracker, accessed May 2023, https://www.climatewatchdata.org/net-zero-tracker

Browning et al., Net-zero CO₂ by 2050 scenarios for the United States in the Energy Modeling Forum 37 study, Energy and Climate Change, April 2023, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egycc.2023</u>

United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), *Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks 1990-2021*, April 2023, <u>https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2023-04/US-GHG-Inventory-2023-Main-Text.pdf</u>

Resources for the Future (RFF), *Global Energy Outlook 2023: Sowing the Seeds of an Energy Transition*, March 2023, <u>https://www.rff.org/publications/reports/global-energy-outlook-2023/</u>

Shell, Shell Scenarios Sketch: A US Net-Zero CO₂ Energy System by 2050, March 2023, <u>https://www.shell.com/energy-and-innovation/</u> the-energy-future/scenarios/scenario-sketches/new-sketch-a-us-net-zero-co2-energy-system-by-2050/_jcr_content/root/main/section/ call_to_action/links/item0.stream/1655909455043/03ba381d6a211c320749251266b077375378d490/us-scenario-sketch.pdf

Energy Pathways USA, Pathways to Net-Zero for the US Energy Transition, November 2022, <u>https://nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/sites/</u> <u>default/files/publications/pathways-net-zero-US-energy-transition.pdf</u>

Low-Carbon Resources Initiative (LCRI), LCRI Net-Zero 2050: U.S. Economy-wide Deep Decarbonization Scenario Analysis, September 2022, http://www.lowcarbonlcri.com/netzero

Open Energy Outlook (OEO), An Open Energy Outlook: Decarbonization Pathways for the USA, September 2022, <u>https://www.cmu.edu/energy/key-initiatives/open-energy-outlook/oeo-report-2022.html</u>

Evolved Energy Research (EER), Annual Decarbonization Perspective: Carbon-Neutral Pathways for the United States, August 2022, https://www.evolved.energy/post/adp2022

McKinsey, Sustainability, Navigating America's net-zero frontier: A guide for business leaders, May 2022. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/sustainability/our-insights/navigating-americas-net-zero-frontier-a-guide-for-business-leaders#/</u>

U.S. Department of State & U.S. Executive Office of the President, *The Long-Term Strategy of The United States: Pathways to Net-Zero Greenhouse Gas Emissions by 2050*, November 2021, <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/US-Long-Term-Strategy.pdf</u>

Princeton University, Net-Zero America: Potential Pathways, Infrastructure, and Impacts, October 2021, <u>https://netzeroamerica.princeton.</u> edu/the-report

DeAngelo et al., *Energy systems in scenarios at net-zero CO*₂ *emissions*, October 2021, Nature Communications, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26356-y</u>

International Energy Agency (IEA), Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector, May 2021, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zero-by-2050</u>

Decarb America (DA), *Pathways to Net-Zero Emissions*, February 2021, <u>https://decarbamerica.org/report/pathways-to-net-zero-emissions/</u>

Center for Climate and Energy Solutions, *Pathways to 2050: Scenarios for Decarbonizing the U.S. Economy*, May 2019, <u>https://www.c2es.org/document/pathways-to-2050-scenarios-for-decarbonizing-the-u-s-economy/</u>

Endnotes

- 1 See Table 1 in the main report for the complete list of studies considered.
- 2 The Evolved Energy Research, Princeton University, and Decarb America studies all employed a common analytical framework—the EnergyPATHWAYS model, developed by EER.
- 3 Liquid fuels include ammonia and hydrocarbon fuels derived from petroleum, bioenergy, and synthetic pathways.
- 4 Pipeline gas includes fossil natural gas, renewable natural gas, synthetic natural gas, and blended hydrogen.
- 5 Three exceptions are: (1) the Open Energy Outlook study did not report non-energy uses of fuels, hence the results shown here are for energy uses only, (2) the hydrogen data for today is based on 2020 data, rather than 2022, and (3) the Open Energy Outlook Net-Zero scenario had 7% of final energy as biomass.
- 6 The reported reduction in primary energy consumption is also an artifact of the reporting convention employed here for wind and solar technologies, where the produced energy is directly reported (e.g., the electricity generated from a solar panel) rather than the available energy (e.g., the sunlight energy impinging on a solar panel).
- 7 Land sinks were not included in the Open Energy Outlook analysis.
- 8 As based on government commitments tracked by Climate Watch.
- 9 Facilities that leverage bioenergy resources for power generation or fuel production may emit CO₂ released from carbon that was originally within the bioresource. The carbon in these bioresources was absorbed from the atmosphere during growth. By capturing and sequestering this CO₂ from bioenergy facilities, this creates an overall negative flow of CO₂ from the atmosphere.
- 10 The BP study, despite being global in scope, was still considered for this meta-analysis because it had a section with U.S. data.
- 11 The Energy Modeling Forum (EMF), coordinated by Stanford, brings together experts and decisionmakers to study important energy and environmental issues. Each EMF study is organized through a working group to design the study, compare each model's results, and discuss key conclusions.
- 12 Energy Pathways USA is a partnership between Duke Nicholas Institute for Energy, Environment & Sustainability and Energy Transitions Commission.
- 13 The Low-Carbon Resources Initiative (LCRI) is a joint collaboration between GTI Energy and Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) focused on accelerating the development and deployment of low-carbon energy technologies required for deep decarbonization.
- 14 The Open Energy Outlook is joint initiative between the Wilton E. Scott Institute for Energy Innovation at Carnegie Mellon University and North Carolina State University to examine U.S. energy futures to help inform energy and climate policy efforts.
- 15 The Decarb America Research Initiative is a collaboration between the Bipartisan Policy Center, Clean Air Task Force, and Third Way to analyze policy and technology pathways for the United States to reach net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.
- 16 The data assessment in Table 1 is based on an evaluation of publicly and freely available data. It is possible that additional data is available behind a paywall for some studies.
- 17 As of September 2023. Some teams publish studies on an annual basis, such as BP, Shell, and EER. Only the most recent publication has been considered here.
- 18 Pathways to 2050 by the Center for Climate and Energy Solutions was initially considered for this meta-analysis but ultimately not included because none of its scenarios targeted net-zero emissions. The most aggressive scenario stopped at an 80% reduction in GHG emissions.
- 19 Many global net-zero studies have been published over the past few years, such as the International Energy Agency's <u>Net Zero</u>. <u>Roadmap</u>. However, these studies sometimes lack publicly available U.S.-specific data. Comparisons of global decarbonization studies have been published by Resources for the Future (report) and others (report, report).
- 20 Non-CO₂ greenhouse gases in the EER, Princeton, and DA studies include methane, oxides of nitrogen, fluorinated gases, and others and are represented as carbon dioxide equivalent (CO_{2e}).
- 21 A more detailed summary of studies and scenarios is provided in the Supporting Material.
- 22 A recent multimodal study provides a comparison of how the Inflation Reduction Act could shape energy systems and emissions (report).

- 23 Information for the current U.S. energy system was derived from EIA; current U.S. emissions data was obtained from the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Detailed discussion on the methodologies applied in this meta-analysis are provided in the Supporting Material.
- 24 Final energy is calculated by summing the energy consumption of the three end-uses: transportation, industry, and buildings. It does not show energy consumed in direct air capture or in interim stages like electricity and fuel production.
- 25 Energy values for fuels are reported on a higher heating value (HHV) basis in this report.
- 26 The EER study also used heat from thermal nuclear power plants for direct air capture systems.
- 27 Liquid fuels include ammonia and hydrocarbon fuels derived from petroleum, bioenergy, and synthetic pathways.
- 28 Pipeline gas includes fossil natural gas, renewable natural gas, synthetic natural gas, and blended hydrogen.
- 29 Hydrogen is reported as a final energy carrier when it is used directly as an end-use fuel or as a non-energy feedstock for chemicals production (including non-energy uses of ammonia). Hydrogen is reported in pipeline gas when it is blended into the pipeline gas supply. Hydrogen is reported in liquid fuels when it is used to produce synthetic fuels or ammonia used as an end-use fuel.
- 30 The OEO study did not include non-energy uses of fuels.
- 31 Air-source heat pump efficiencies decrease as outside air temperatures become colder. To meet the heating requirements with a heat pump alone, the heating unit would need to be sized larger than a unit sized for a hybrid mode. This standalone heat pump approach is more costly in terms of the heating equipment itself, but also in terms of the associated infrastructure requirements. Electrification of space heating can increase and shift peak annual electric loads to the coldest winter days, such that additional electric transmission and distribution capacity is required, along with additional electric generation capacity. This cost stacking through the electric value chain for standalone heat pumps can lead to higher overall costs for achieving economy-wide net-zero targets in comparison to hybrid electric-gas heating systems. This complex set of cost tradeoffs is incorporated into the analyses of the LCRI and EER studies, which allow for this hybrid heating option. The results of these studies point to broad adoption of hybrid electric-gas heating systems in net-zero scenarios.
- 32 Although hydrogen is blended into the pipeline gas mixture used for gas-fired power generation in some scenarios across studies, pure hydrogen is only leveraged as a fuel for power generation in the LCRI study.
- 33 Capacity factor is a measure how intensively a generating unit is operated. Capacity factors are calculated here by dividing the electricity generated in 2050 by the maximum possible electrical energy that could have been produced if the generator were continuously operated at maximum capacity. A capacity factor of 100% indicates that a generating unit is continuously operated at its maximum output.
- 34 Figure 8 reports the primary source of generation from wind and solar, rather than the secondary generation from storage, which originally stored power from excess wind and solar capacity. This is consistent with the reporting convention of all five studies evaluated here.
- 35 Electrolysis costs in 2050 were assumed to be lower in the Princeton and EER studies as compared to the LCRI study, and correspondingly, the Princeton and EER studies trend towards higher deployment of electrolytic hydrogen production. Regarding natural gas with carbon capture pathways, Princeton and EER assumed higher costs in 2050 than LCRI, and correspondingly the Princeton and EER studies trended towards lower deployment of natural gas-based hydrogen production. LCRI assumed a 55% carbon capture rate for biomass pathways, whereas Princeton assumed an 87% capture rate.
- 36 For OEO, the lower level of hydrogen could be attributed to the study excluding non-energy uses of resources.
- 37 LCRI's Limited Options scenario does not explicitly exclude fossil fuels, but it explicitly excludes carbon sequestration. This constraint ultimately translates to substantial reductions in fossil fuel consumption in the LCRI Limited Options scenario.
- 38 There are differences in how certain low-carbon pipeline gas pathways are labeled across different studies. In all studies, landfill gas and anaerobic digestion-based gas are considered as sources for renewable gas. Similarly, across all studies, pipeline gas generated through conversion of captured CO₂ and hydrogen is treated as synthetic natural gas. For gas produced via biomass gasification this is treated as RNG in the LCRI study, whereas it is treated as SNG in EER, Princeton, and DA. OEO did not include RNG but included SNG.
- 39 The Princeton study included biofuels as part of the production of liquid fuels and pipeline gas. However, in the Princeton dataset utilized for this meta-analysis, biofuels are reported as synthetic fuels. Hence, the synthetic fuels results in Figure 10 and Figure 11 are indicative of both biofuels and synthetic fuels.
- 40 For LCRI, ammonia is used as a transportation fuel at very low levels (0.04 EJ) in the Limited Options scenario.

- 41 Figure 11 shows energy uses of liquid fuels, such as heating buildings and fueling vehicles. Non-energy use of liquid fuels as feedstock chemicals and materials is not shown here but is included in the total final energy values reported in Figure 3.
- 42 The land sink values reported for LCRI scenarios only include the incremental land sink change relative to the 2020 level evaluated in that study. Hence these values appear smaller in magnitude as compared to the 2022 levels shown in Figure 12. In the EER 100% Renewables scenario, the 2050 land sink is slightly lower than the 2022 level, but the overall net-zero target is still achieved despite this slight land sink reduction. OEO did not include the land sink in their analysis.
- 43 The cost information reported here is described in greater detail in the Supporting Material.
- 44 Costs for the EER Low Demand scenario are not reported here as based on guidance from the authors of the EER study. The framing for the Low Demand scenario is such that it is tenuous to compare costs for this scenario relative to other EER scenarios.
- 45 Decarb America did not report cost information.

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITIES

THIS DOCUMENT WAS PREPARED THROUGH FUNDING FROM GTI ENERGY AND THE LOW CARBON RESOURCES INITIATIVE, WHICH IS CO-FUNDED BY THE ELECTRIC POWER RESEARCH INSTITUTE, INC. (EPRI). NEITHER EPRI, GTI ENERGY, ANY MEM-BER OF EPRI OR GTI ENERGY, ANY COSPONSOR, LCRI, NOR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY OF THEM:

(A) MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WHATSO-EVER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, (I) WITH RESPECT TO THE USE OF ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMI-LAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS DOCUMENT, INCLUDING MER-CHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR

(II) THAT SUCH USE DOES NOT INFRINGE ON OR INTERFERE WITH PRIVATELY OWNED RIGHTS, INCLUDING ANY PARTY'S INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, OR (III) THAT THIS DOCUMENT IS SUITABLE TO ANY PARTICULAR USER'S CIRCUMSTANCE; OR

(B) ASSUMES RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES OR OTHER LIABILITY WHATSOEVER (INCLUDING ANY CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, EVEN IF EPRI OR ANY EPRI REPRESENTATIVE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES) RE-SULTING FROM YOUR SELECTION OR USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMILAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS DOCUMENT.

REFERENCE HEREIN TO ANY SPECIFIC COMMERCIAL PROD-UCT, PROCESS, OR SERVICE BY ITS TRADE NAME, TRADEMARK, MANUFACTURER, OR OTHERWISE, DOES NOT NECESSARILY CONSTITUTE OR IMPLY ITS ENDORSEMENT, RECOMMENDA-TION, OR FAVORING BY EPRI OR GTI ENERGY.

Export Control Restrictions

Access to and use of this EPRI and GTI Energy product is granted with the specific understanding and requirement that responsibility for ensuring full compliance with all applicable U.S. and foreign export laws and regulations is being undertaken by you and your company. This includes an obligation to ensure that any individual receiving access hereunder who is not a U.S. citizen or U.S. permanent resident is permitted access under applicable

U.S. and foreign export laws and regulations.

In the event you are uncertain whether you or your company may lawfully obtain access to this EPRI and GTI Energy product, you acknowledge that it is your obligation to consult with your company's legal counsel to determine whether this access is lawful. Although and EPRI and GTI Energy may make available on a case by case basis an informal assessment of the applicable U.S. export classification for specific and EPRI and GTI Energy products, you and your company acknowledge that this assessment is solely for informational purposes and not for reliance purposes.

Your obligations regarding U.S. export control requirements apply during and after you and your company's engagement with EPRI and GTI Energy. To be clear, the obligations continue after your retirement or other departure from your company, and include any knowledge retained after gaining access to EPRI and GTI Energy products.

You and your company understand and acknowledge your obligations to make a prompt report to EPRI, GTI Energy, and the appropriate authorities regarding any access to or use of this EPRI and GTI Energy product hereunder that may be in violation of applicable U.S. or foreign export laws or regulations.

About GTI Energy

<u>GTI Energy</u> is a leading technology development organization. Our trusted team works to scale impactful solutions that shape energy transitions by leveraging gases, liquids, infrastructure, and efficiency. We embrace systems thinking, innovation, and collaboration to develop, scale, and deploy the technologies needed for low-carbon, low-cost energy systems.

About Low-Carbon Resources Initiative (LCRI)

<u>GTI Energy</u> and <u>EPRI</u> are together addressing the need to accelerate development and demonstration of low- and zero-carbon energy technologies.

The Low-Carbon Resources Initiative (LCRI) will focus on large-scale deployment to 2030 and beyond. Fundamental advances in a variety of low-carbon electric generation technologies and low-carbon chemical energy carriers—such as clean hydrogen, bioenergy, and renewable natural gas—are needed to enable affordable pathways to economy-wide decarbonization.

Technical Contacts

Ansh Nasta

Principal Energy Systems Analyst, GTI Energy anasta@gti.energy

Derek Wissmiller

Director of Strategic Analytics, GTI Energy dwissmiller@gti.energy

Thanks to GTI Energy colleagues who supported this effort: Zane McDonald, Christy Michals, Kristin Cone, Alessandra Reilly.

This version of the report was updated in February 2024.

Exh. SWM-2 Page 36 of 36

1700 S Mount Prospect Road Des Plaines, IL 60018-1804 +1 847.768.0500

www.gti.energy

©2023 GTI Energy. All rights reserved.